Capsule Summary

SM-198

Willow Glen

Maddox vicinity

Private Circa 1835

Willow Glen is a well-preserved brick house dating to around 1835.
Contemporary with Dela Brooke Manor on the Patuxent River, Willow Glen shares
many of its same architectural features. Both dwellings have bridged chimney stacks,
a stucco exterior, and a side hall/double pile plan. Willow Glen is significant because
of its high level of architectural integrity and because of the interesting detached
kitchen which survives on site. This kitchen outbuilding retains many of its original
interior finishes as well as a large chimney fitted with an exterior cooking hearth.

The history of the Willow Glen property dates to the very earliest period of
settlement in St. Mary’s County. Originally part of Bashford, also known as “Basford,”
Manor this parcel is referred to as “Willow Glen” in the land records by 1866. Under
Turner ownership until 1889, the property was possessed by Hayden family heirs until
the 1970s.
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Historic Context
Geographic Organization: Western Shore

Chronological/Developmental Period: Agricultural-Industrial Transition, 1815-1870.

Historic Period Theme: Architecture

Resource Type

Category: Building
Historic Environment: Rural
Historic Function and Use: Residence

Known Design Source: None
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Maryland Historical Trust HISTORIC PROPERTIE
State Historic Sites Inventory Form DOE __yes _ no
1. Name (indicate preferred name)
historic
and/or common Willow Glen Farm
2. Location
street & number W(Q‘ s idc oF Route 2.3 B — not for publication
city, town Maddox X vicinity of congressional district 5
state Maryland county St. Mary's
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
— district — public X occupied —_ agriculture — museum
_X building(s) __X private ____ unoccupied ____ commercial - park
——__ structure — both ___ work in progress —_ educational _X_private residence
—_ site Public Acquisition Accessible —__entertainment - religious
--__ object —_in process __Y Yes: restricted —___government ___ scientific
— being considered ___yes: unrestricted —__ industrial —_ transportation
_Xx not applicable —_no —__ military ___ other:

4. owner Of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

hame Fugene J. and Shelby B, Guazzo
street & number Bgx 2 telephone no.: (301)769-2272
city, town Chaptico state and zip code M{ 20621

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Clerk of Court liber DBK 182
street & number ‘ St. Mary's County Courthouse folio 324
city, town Leonardtown state Md.

6. Representation in Existing uistorical surveys

title

date — _federal ____state __ county __ _local

.

-posltory for survey records

city, town state




7. Description Survey No. SM-198

Condition Check one Check one

___ excellent _deteriorated ____ unaltered _X original site

_X good —__ruins _X altered ___moved date of move
— fair ____unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

Contributing Resource Count: 2

Willow Glen is located south of Maddox at the end of a dirt road on the west side
of the Chaptico-Maddox Road (Rte. 238). The Willow Glen manor house stands on a
flat plain which slopes gently west towards the Wicomico River. The property is
bounded on the south by Manahowic Creek, and by a small creek referred to in the
land records as “The Stream” on the north. The original approach to the house, a
cedar-lined lane, is still visible on the landscape.

In addition to the main dwelling, this property is occupied by a variety of
outbuildings and a tenant house. Only one outbuilding is contemporary with the main
house. The main house faces east, with the principal gable oriented on a north/south
axis.

Dating to the second quarter of the nineteenth century, Willow Glen is a two-
story brick structure consisting of a main block with a side hall/double pile plan. A
slightly shorter, two-story, two bay wing with a single pile plan extends to the south.
This wing is stepped back to the west, creating a an ell which has been infilled by a
two-story frame addition sheathed with German siding. Both brick wings are covered
with stucco which has been scored to imitate stone. The roof, once covered with tin
shingles, has a medium overhang and is sheathed with asphalt shingles.

The east (main) elevation of the main block is sheltered by a one-story porch
across its first floor. A later addition, this porch retains its original wood floor and
wainscoted ceiling. Doric columns support the roof’s heavily molded entablature. The
first floor of the house is pierced by a partially glazed entrance door with three-light
sidelights and a four-light transom as its northern most bay. The entry’s original
features include its paneled soffit and jambs. Two two-over-two sash windows with
louvered shutters light the first floor. These windows have wood sills and decorative
crown moldings consisting of an entablature with a simple stepped freize. The second
floor is lit by three windows like those on the first floor. The cornice of the main block is
corbeled with two rows of projecting brick headers. The first floor of the southern wing
is obscured by a two-story frame addition sheathed with German siding. This wing is
pierced by a partially glazed entrance door flanked on either side by two fifteen-over-
fifteen sash windows with wide, plain surrounds. A portico, supported by slender Doric
columns, shelters the entrance door. The second floor of this addition consists of a
porch which has been partially enclosed. The porch, used as a sleeping porch in the
early twentieth century, has a square baluster railing and square post supports. The
porch’s northern enclosed section is lit by one six-over-six sash window with wide,
plain surrounds on the east elevation and by a multi-pane door on the south elevation.
The brick wing behind this frame addition is pierced by one two-over-two sash window



8. Significance Survey No.  SM-198

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
—___prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture ____ religion
___1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____conservation — law ____science
1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___economics __ literature ____ sculpture
— - 1600-1699 __X architecture —education —— military — social/
—1700-1799 ___ art _ engineering —___ music humanitarian
—X 1800-1899 ___ commerce ____exploration/settlement ___ philosophy ___ theater
— 1900- - communications ____industry — politics/government ____ transportation
____invention ____other (specify)
Specific dates none Builder/Architect  Unknown
check: Applicable Criteria: _ A B xC _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: _ A _ B _C _D _E _F _G
Level of Significance: _ natiomal __state E_local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
support.

Willow Glen is a well-preserved brick house dating to around 1835.
Contemporary with Dela Brooke Manor on the Patuxent River, Willow Glen shares
many of its same architectural features. Both dwellings have bridged chimney stacks,
a stucco exterior, and a side hall/double pile plan. Willow Glen is significant because
of its high level of architectural integrity and because of the interesting detached
kitchen which survives on site.

The one-room outbuilding located to the south of the house served Willow Glen
as a detached kitchen with servants’ sleeping quarters in the upper half story. The
interior of this building is little changed, retaining a portion of its plastered interior and
the beaded board door frame to its interior winder stair. The exterior hearth located on
the south side of the kitchen’s large chimney was probably used for messy tasks such
as laundry, soap-making, and hog-butchering.

The history of the Willow Glen property dates to the very earliest period of
settlement in St. Mary’s County. Originally part of Bashford, also known as “Basford
Manor,” this parcel is referred to as “Willow Glen” in the land records by 1866. Under
Turner ownership until 1889, the property was possessed by Hayden family heirs until
the 1970s.
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SM-198, Willow Glen
St. Mary’s County
7.1 Description

finished with the same decorative crown molding which caps the windows on the
dwelling’s main block. A one-story, one-room gable roof addition extends to the south
of this wing, and is lit by one eight-over-eight sash window.

The south elevation of the main block’s gable end is marked by a pair of
chimneys with a two-story pent. Here, the eave is lit by one two-over-two sash,
shuttered window crowned by a flat lintel. The first and second floor of the main block
is obscured by the southern two-story wing. The first floor of this wing consists of a
one-story, gable roof addition sheathed with German siding and pierced with an
entrance door. The second floor of the wing is lit by a pair of narrow four-over-four
sash windows set into an original window frame and crowned by a flat lintel. An
interior brick chimney projects from the roofline of this wing.

The west elevation of the main block is pierced by a northern entrance door
sheltered by a gable roof portico. This portico is supported by turned posts and
finished with a square post baluster. The entrance door and two windows which light
the first floor of this elevation are identical to those on the east elevation. Notably, the
door is finished with the same paneled soffit and jambs. The second floor is lit by three
windows like those on the east elevation. The southern wing is lit on the first and
second floors by two two-over-two sash windows with louvered shutters smaller than
those windows which light the main block. The one-story, gable roof addition attached
to the south end of the house is screened on this west side.

The north elevation is lit by two two-over-two sash, shuttered windows on both
the first and second floors. One smaller two-over-two sash, shuttered window lights
the eave. The crown moldings above these windows vary, including the style of
stepped entablature visible above the east elevation windows, the plain lintels visible
on the south elevation, and a type of lintel characterized by two rows of brick corbeling.

The interior of the main block consists of a side hall with a paneled open
stringer stair finished with turned balusters, a turned newell post, and a molded hand
rail. The stair treads are elaborated with a cyma curve molding which curves from the
top of the riser to the base of the tread’'s nosing. A four-panel door opens to a closet
underneath the stair. Here, the unfinished wood is scarred with up and down saw
marks and joined with mature machine cut nails. Four-panel doors open onto the two
parlors located south of the stair. The pair of floor to ceiling doors which originally
provided access between these two rooms has been removed. The windows in these
rooms are framed by a round molding surround and wide, plain jambs which form
cornerblocks at their junction with the lintel. Below the slightly projecting lintel is a
rectangular panel set into the wall. A fireplace is located on the south wall of each
room. To the west of the hearth in the east parlor is a narrow doorway which provides
access to the southern frame addition. This door probably originally opened to a small
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closet like that located to the east of the hearth in the west parlor. This small closet
opens into the bricked area between the house’s bridged chimneys, serving the same
purpose as those closets which open into chimney pents. The built-in woodwork in
these rooms was designed by the current owners.

The second floor of the main block consists of a side hall and two bedrooms
accessible beyond four-panel doors. The mantels in these rooms remain intact. Here,
the firebox is flanked by plain pilasters crowned by a Doric cap. Below the mantel
shelf is a wide, undecorated freize band. In the east bedroom, a narrow doorway, like
that on the first floor, pierces the wall west of the fireplace. Here, a four-panel door
opens onto the enclosed section of the south wing's second story porch.

The upper half story of the house is accessible by the side hall stair. This area
consists of a single room which was finished by the current owners. Both rafters and
collar beams are visible in this room. The collars are half lapped into the rafters, many
of which have been hewn on at least one side. Crawlspaces on both the east and
west sides of the room reveal the floor joists, top plate, and rafter feet. All the exposed
timber here appears to bear up and down saw marks. Only mature machine cut nails
were in evidence.

The first floor of the dwelling’s southern wing consists of one large room which
now serves as a modern kitchen and dining area. An open stringer stair with a molded
hand rail, turned newell post and square balusters rises against the north wall of the
room. The first four steps of this stair wind sharply with the banister beginning on the
fifth stair. The second floor of this wing was not seen.

Eight outbuildings stand on the property. The most interesting of these is a one-
story structure referred to as a “slave cabin” and located on the south side of Willow
Glen. This building probably served as a detached kitchen for the main house. The
structure faces east and has a gable roof oriented on a north/south axis. It stands on
cinderblock piers and is sheathed with a layer of German siding. The roof is metal.
The east elevation is pierced by one two-over-two sash window and a one-over-one
panel door and is finished with a boxed cornice. The north side is a flush gable end, lit
by a window at the attic level. The west elevation is finished with a boxed cornice and
lit by one two-over-two sash window. The south elevation is mostly obscured by a very
large brick chimney which now stands on a cement pad. The masonry consists of no
distinct course pattern and a large hearth is located on both the exterior south side of
the chimney and on the interior north side. The interior of this outbuilding consists of
one room which was originally finished with plaster. While some of this surface
survives in the northwest corner of the room, the remainder has been sheathed with
wainscoting. A hearth is located at the south end of the room. This fireplace is about
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five feet in height and extends almost the entire width of the south wall. its plain
mantle shelf is circular sawn. A winder stair is located in the northeast corner of the
room. The door to this stair is no longer in place, but the opening is surrounded by a
beaded door frame and the western jamb is marked by a latch recess. The loft area
reveals rafters which are pinioned together with wooden pegs. Here, the lumber
appears to bear up and down saw marks. A small makeshift stair rail consisting of
square balusters and a beaded handrail which runs diagonally from a rafter to the the
floor boards of the loft stands next to the stair. This baluster is held together with
mature machine cut nails.

The remaining outbuildings south of the main house consist of a modern
garage sheathed with German siding which is located next to the building described
above. A shed sheathed with circular sawn, vertical board siding and capped with a
corrugated metal roof also stands nearby. North of the house is a twentieth century
guest cottage sheathed with weatherboard siding. Three twentieth century tobacco
barns, a tractor shed, and a gable roof outbuilding sheathed with vertical board siding
and roofed with metal comprise the agricuitural outbuildings.

The Willow Glen tenant house is located at the northern edge of the property,
situated on a slight rise overlooking a cove of “The Stream” which acts as Willow
Glen’s northern boundary. Fields extend to the east of the house. Now unoccupied,
this frame structure faces south with a gable roof oriented on an east/west axis.

Built around the turn of the century, the main block of the tenant house is a two-
story, two-bay structure which has been englarged with the addition of a one-story,
one-bay wing on its west side and a two-story, one-bay addition on the east side. It is
sheathed with weatherboard siding and supported by cinderblock piers. The roof is
covered with metal.

The south (main) elevation has a shed roof porch across the first floor of the
main block. This porch is supported by square posts and roofed with metal. A partiaily
glazed entrance door and one six-over-six sash window with plank shutters pierce the
first floor. The second floor is lit by one such window. The two-story addition on the
east side is lit by one six-over-six sash window with plank shutters on both the first and
second floors. The one-story addition on the west side is lit by one six-over-six sash
window with plank shutters.

The west elevation of the main block is blind. An exterior brick chimney is
centered on this gable end elevation. The one-story addition which extends to the
west is lit by one six-over-six sash window with plank shutters. A former door opening
on this addition has been converted to a six-over-six sash window sheltered by a
gable roof portico.
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The north elevation of the main block is covered by a screened porch across the
first floor. The first floor is pierced by a partially glazed entrance door and the second
floor is lit by one six-over-six sash window with plank shutters. The two-story wing on
the east end is lit by one six-over-six sash window on both the first and second floors.
The one-story wing on the west end is lit by one shuttered six-over-six sash window.

The east elevation of the main block is blind and marked by a centrally placed
exterior brick chimney.

Two outbuildings stand on the site. One is a modern pump house constructed
of cinderblocks. The second outbuilding, located on the northeast corner of the
property, is a shed roof structure supported by cinderblock piers and sheathed with
vertical board siding. The exterior siding of the east end is widely spaced, allowing air
to circulate on the interior. The roof is metal. A pair of double doors held in place by
metal butterfly hinges pierce the south (main) elevation. Although there are no
partition walls on the interior, this structure appears to have served two purposes: a
storage or work room on the west end and a corn crib on the east end.
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Chain of Title

TO: Eugene Guazzo and Shelby P. Guazzo

FROM: Nellie H. Johnston, widow.

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber DBK 182, folio 324.

DATE: October 10, 1972.

NOTES: Transfer of “Willow Glen” being 95 16/100 acres. Lloyd E. Johnston died
intestate in 1969, Estate #1148.

TO: Nellie H. Johnston and Lioyd E. Johnston.

FROM: Mary R. Fowler

RECORD: St. Mary's County Land Record, Liber CBG 19, folio 168.
DATE: November 18, 1946.

NOTES: Transfer of “Willow Glen,” being 95 16/100 acres.

TO: Mary R. Fowler

FROM: Emma M. Gladstone and William E. Gladstone, Nellie H. Johnston and Lioyd
E. Johnston.

RECORD: St. Mary's County Land Record, Liber CBG 19, folio 167.

DATE: November 15, 1946.

NOTES: Transfer of “Willow Glen,” being 168 acres.

TO: Nellie M. Johnston and Lioyd E. Johnston

FROM: Mary R. Fowler

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Records, Liber CBG 18, folio 395.

DATE: June 28, 1946.

NOTES: Transfer of 1/2 undivided interest in “Willow Glen,” being 168 acres.

TO: Emma H. Gladstone and William E. Gladstone

FROM: Mary R. Fowler

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber CBG 18, folio 394.

DATE: June 28, 1946.

NOTES: Transfer of 1/2 undivided interest in “Willow Glen,” being 168 acres.

TO: Mary R. Fowler

FROM: Francis G. Hayden, Jr., Katherine Tilghman, Lewis Tilghman, Margaret
Hayden, Marguerite Gott, Richard V. Gott, Emma M. Gladstone, William E. Gladstone,
Nellie M. Johnston, Lloyd E. Johnston, Mabel Van Hein, Frederick W. Van Hein,
Roberta Gough, Laurel M. Seliman, Annie P. Shekell, and Mary Blanche Nelson,
being heirs at law of Katherine M. Hayden, deceased.

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber CBG 18, folio 393.

DATE: June 28, 1946.

NOTES: Transfer of “Willow Glen,” being 168 acres.
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TO: Catherine E. Roberta Gough, Mary Blanche Nelson, Mable Van Hein, Annie
Pinkney Shekell, Laurel Hayden Sellman, Emma Miller Gladstone, Alice Ellen
Gardiner Johnston, Willie Reed Hayden, Frank G Hayden.

FROM: Katherine Maddox Hayden

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Testamentary Record, Liber MLC 1, folio 183.
DATE: October 28, 1930.

NOTES: In her will, she transfers all her real estate to her nine children.

TO: Kate Hayden

FROM: Robert C. Combs and Daniel C. Hammett, Trustees.

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber EBA 13, folio 226.

DATE: January 13, 1915.

NOTES: Transfer of “Bashford,” or “Willow Glen,” being 168 acres the same as JFF
5/13, and being part of the lands of which Lewis E. Turner died possessed. This
property was sold to Kate M. Hayden, wife of Oscar G. Hayden, on May 14, 1889. The
sale of this property is the result of a judgement in the Circuit Court case Edmund H.
Turner et al vs. Mary D. Coad et al, No. 654 New Equity. This case is described in
Decree Record JFF 6/284.

TO: Victoria Coode

FROM: Ann M. Turner

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Testamentary Record, Liber JBA 1, folio 125.

DATE: January 22, 1887.

NOTES: To my niece, all the remainder of the property of which | die possessed. (This
includes Willow Glen.)

TO: Ann M. Turner

FROM: Robert C. Combs, Trustee

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber JFF 5, folio 13.

DATE: April 25, 1881.

NOTES: Transfer of 168 acres of “Willow Glen” and 137 acres “Chester” as per decree
of Circuit Court on November 12, 1879 in case of Ann M. Turner vs. Augustine
L.Taveau as Taveau had defaulted on the mortgage outlined in JAC 1/410.

TO: Augustine L. Taveau

FROM: Ann M. Turner

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber JAC 1, folio 421.

DATE: January 5, 1866.

NOTES: Transfer of 168 acres of “Willow Glen” and 137 acres of “Chester.”
Price: $8000
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TO: Ann M. Turner

FROM: Lewis E. Turner

RECORD: St. Mary's County Testamentary Record, Liber JTMR 1, folio 76.

DATE: November 8, 1860.

NOTES: | devise all of my estate unto my wife during her single life and after her death
3/5 of 1/2 of same to Mary D. Coode, during her life, and after her death to her children
Victoria Coode, Demetrius Coode, and Imogene Hodges; 2/5 of 1/2 to Rosalie Turner,
wife of Duncan M. Turner, and Edmonia Grason, wife of James B. Grason; 1/3 of 1/2 to
Julia W. Turner, wife of Edmund H Turner during her natural life and after her death to
her children, and the remaining portion of this estate, viz. 2/3 of 1/2 to Susan Weisell
during her life and after her death to her children Daniel Weisell, Edmund Weisel,
Marion Weisel, Mary Weisel, and Samuel Weisel...

TO: Lewis E. Turner

FROM: Philip Turner

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Records, Liber JH 11, folio 557.

DATE: March 10, 1840.

NOTES: Transfer of 187 acres, being part of Bashford of which Henry Turner died
possessed.

TO: Philip Turner

FROM: Jeremiah Alvey, Joseph Dunbar, William H. Neale, surviving commissioners.
RECORD: St. Mary’s County Land Record, Liber JH 11, folio 413.

DATE: June 20, 1839.

NOTES: Transfer of 187 acres being “Part of Bashford.”

TO: Heirs at law.

FROM: Henry Turner

RECORD: St. Mary’s County Orphan’s Court Records, Estate #129.
DATE: September 12, 1826

NOTES: Henry Turner died intestate.
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